1988

Wendell E. Taylor v. The Estate of Grant Taylor, Esther Taylor, Darren G. Taylor, and John Does 1 through 5 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following issues are presented for review in this Appeal:

1. Did the District Court err in granting the Defendants-Respondents' Motion For Summary Judgment?
2. Did the District Court err in failing to apply a standard of substantial compliance with the relevant statute regarding the execution of testamentary documents?
3. Did the District Court err in granting Defendants-Respondents' Motion For Attorneys' Fees?
4. Did the District Court err in failing to make specific findings of fact with regard to the Defendants-Respondents' Motion For Attorneys' Fees on the basis of alleged bad faith conduct or other conduct violating Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wendell E. Taylor commenced this action to invalidate a document entitled the Last Will And Testament of Grant R. Taylor dated August 30, 1984 and, to give effect to the provisions of a document dated June 30, 1984, executed by Grant R. Taylor and witnessed by Noel M. Taylor and Geraldine Taylor (R. 2-6). By the terms of the June 30, 1984 document, Grant R. Taylor agreed to forgive a substantial debt owed him by Wendell E. Taylor (R. 104).

Defendants initially responded to Plaintiff's Complaint by

filing a Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint With Prejudice (R. 8). This Motion was never heard by the district court. After the completion of some discovery, Defendants filed a Motion For Summary Judgment, and a Motion For Attorneys Fees (R. 132, 200). On or about March 24, 1986, the Honorable Raymond S. Uno entered an order granting Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment, dismissing the action with prejudice and awarding Defendants attorneys' fees (R. 235, 236).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wendell E. Taylor, hereinafter "Wendell" was the brother of Grant R. Taylor, hereinafter "decedent". Decedent died on September 26, 1984 (R.3, 99, 100, 101). In January of 1984, decedent had loaned Wendell a significant amount of money enabling Wendell to avoid a financial problem associated with his residence (R. 102, 104).

On June 30, 1984, decedent dictated a document to another of his brothers, Noel M. Taylor, which cancelled the debt owed him by Wendell (R. 3, 12, 104). After the document was typed and read back to the decedent by Noel M. Taylor, and in the presence of Noel's wife, Geraldine, decedent executed it in the presence of Noel and Geraldine Taylor (R. 168, 169, 176, 188). Thereafter, Noel M. Taylor signed the document as a witness in the presence of his wife Geraldine J. Taylor and decedent (R. 168, 169, 176, 188, 189). Geraldine J. Taylor did not execute this document at this time (R. 188). However, Mrs. Taylor did sign the document in the capacity of a witness on a subsequent date (R. 191-192).

The June 30, 1984 document cancelling the debt owed by Wendell to the decedent was intended by decedent to be a portion of the decedent's final will and testament (R. 104). The decedent intended that the document supercede any previous or subsequent order of his, or anyone else, with regard to the decedent's estate (R. 104).

The decedent created and executed this June 30, 1984 document because he believed "that in the presence of certain people and by their instruction, future written negotiations may be attempted to be made while I am under the influence of medicines or coercion and not of my clear, free and sober desires. This I deeply and positively believe could or will happen." (R. 104).

On or about August 30, 1984, decedent executed a document entitled Last Will and Testament. This document made no provision for Defendant Esther Taylor to inherit any of decedent's estate. (R. 77, 78, 79, 80, 81). On or about August 27, 1984, decedent created a revocable trust known as the Grant R. Taylor Trust (R. 41-65, 78). This trust was amended on September 21, 1984 (R. 66-76).

Decedent and Defendant Esther Taylor were divorced in December of 1983. This divorce was an extremely bitter one (R. 100). Notwithstanding this bitter divorce, they were allegedly remarried on September 21, 1984, only nine months after the divorce, the same date the revocable trust was amended to provide for Esther, and five days prior to the decedent's death from cancer (R. 66-76, 100, 105, 107).

On the date of his remarriage to Esther Taylor, September 21, 1984, decedent was on his deathbed, suffering from cancer and was unable to walk or speak audibly. Decedent had been extremely ill with cancer for at least one month prior to this date (R. 100, 109). In fact, in a letter to the Marriage License Bureau on September 20, 1984, Dr. Edward G. Jenkins, decedent's son-in-law, stated that decedent was "very ill with a serious medical condition" which did not allow him out of bed. (R. 109).

In his Complaint, Wendell has alleged that decedent was mentally incompetent and incapable due to his terminal illness for at least sixty (60) days prior to his death (R. 3). Wendell further alleged that during this sixty day period of incompetence, the Defendants, Esther Taylor, Darren G. Taylor and John Does 1-5 wrongfully and maliciously manipulated decedent with regard to the preparation of trust and will documents and further, exercised undue influence over decedent in connection with his purported remarriage of Defendant Esther Taylor so as to obtain an advantage for her from his estate. According to the Complaint, decedent would not have prepared these various documents or remarried Esther Taylor if he had been in full control of his faculties at that time (R. 2, 3, 4, 5). The decedent was concerned that as his terminal illness progressed and as stronger medication was required in connection with this illness, "certain people" would attempt to exercise undue influence over him with regard to his estate and assets (R. 104).

Wendell's relationship with the decedent had been amicable and brotherly (R. 102). Wendell's relationship with Defendant Esther Taylor, however, had been extremely hostile for some years prior to decedent's death (R. 101, 102).

Wendell did not learn of the existence of the June 30, 1984 document until January or February of 1985. At that time he was provided with a copy of it by his brother Noel M. Taylor (R. 169, 171). This document's existence was not brought to Wendell's attention earlier due to the specific directions of the decedent as set out in the document (R. 104).

The decedent left instructions with his "benefactors" that all financial obligations owed him by Wendell were to be cancelled at his death (R. 104). He was, however, concerned that his wishes in this regard would not be carried out (R. 104). He therefore stated in the June 30, 1984 document:

. . . "I handle this subject this way in the hopes that the principal desire of mine to be consummated is that Wendell will be free of financial obligations to me and/or my estate. I handle it with you Noel so that if all goes as I desire and as instructed by me that this document be destroyed without revelation. I suggest to you Noel a short period of waiting after my passing to present this document, if needed, in order to see an accurate picture of the developments if a problem arises"

(R. 104).

He also included a provision whereby Wendell was to "be compensated in treble for all expenses, legal and ordinary, he incurred or will incur in resisting the dwelling debt problem as well as

the cancelled debt." (R. 104).

Noel M. Taylor did not become aware that Wendell was having a problem with Defendant Esther Taylor regarding his home until January or February of 1985 (R. 171, 176, 177). When he became aware of Wendell's difficulties, Noel was unable to locate the original June 30, 1984 document (R. 173, 174, 175, 176). Noel Taylor located the original June 30, 1984 document and gave it to Wendell sometime in the Spring of 1985 (R. 174, 175, 176, 191).

In October of 1985, Wendell commenced this action in the Third District Court for Salt Lake County to enforce the terms of the June 30, 1984 document (R. 2). When this action was initially commenced, Wendell's attorney at the time, Stanley S. Adams, mistakenly attached to the Complaint a copy of the June 30, 1984 document bearing only the signatures of decedent and Noel M. Taylor (R. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 99, 100).

On or about March 24, 1986, the Honorable Raymond S. Uno, Third District Court Judge, granted Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment Dismissing Action With Prejudice And Awarding Defendants Attorneys Fees (R. 235, 236). The District Court made no finding that Wendell's action lacked merit or that Plaintiff's conduct in bringing the suit was lacking in good faith (R. 235, 236). Further, the District Court made no finding that the Plaintiff or his counsel had violated any of the terms of Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 235, 236).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Genuine issues of fact exist with regard to the

influence exerted over decedent by Defendants and the decedent's competence for a period of thirty to sixty days prior to decedent's death.

- A. Decedent was concerned about the exercise of undue influence over him as his terminal illness progressed (R. 104).
- B. Decedent was aware that his mental and physical condition was deteriorating and therefore the exercise of undue influence over him was possible.
- C. The District Court made no findings of fact with regard to the decedent's mental competence for a period of thirty to sixty days prior to his death.
- D. The District Court made no findings of fact with regard to the Plaintiff's allegations of undue influence exercised by Defendants over the decedent.
- E. The District Court made no findings of fact as to the Plaintiff's standing to challenge the validity of decedent's August 30, 1984 will and revocable trust agreements.
- F. Plaintiff is an "interested person" as defined by U.C.A. § 75-1-201.

2. Decedent substantially complied with the provisions of the Utah Uniform Probate Code with regard to the execution of the June 30, 1984 will/codicil.

- A. The June 30, 1984 will/codicil was executed by the Decedent in the presence of two witnesses,

Noel M. Taylor and Geraldine J. Taylor.

- B. Noel M. Taylor and Geraldine J. Taylor acted as witnesses of this document at the decedent's request.
- C. Subsequent to the decedent's execution of the June 30, 1984 will/codicil, Noel M. Taylor executed the document as a witness in the presence of decedent, Grant R. Taylor.
- D. Although Geraldine J. Taylor did not execute the June 30, 1984 will/codicil in the presence of the decedent, she did execute the document confirming that she had witnessed the execution of the June 30, 1984 will/codicil.
- E. The execution of the June 30, 1984 will/codicil substantially complied with the terms of U.C.A. § 75-2-502 so as to provide protection against fraud.
- F. The Utah Uniform Probate Code is to be liberally construed so as to discover and give effect to the intent of the testator in the distribution of his estate.

3. The Defendants are not entitled to an award of attorneys fees pursuant to Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, or U.C.A. § 78-27-56.

- A. The District Court failed to make any findings that there was wilfull violation of Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, by the Plaintiff or his attorney

which would give rise to an award of attorneys fees or other sanctions under that rule.

- B. The District Court failed to make any findings of fact with regard to the Plaintiff's alleged intent to defeat the purpose of Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.
- C. The District Court made no findings of fact as to whether or not Plaintiff's claim lacked merit as defined in Utah law.
- D. The District Court failed to make any findings of fact that the Plaintiff's claim was not asserted in good faith.
- E. There is not substantial evidence in the record to support an award of attorneys fees against the Plaintiff and in favor of Defendants pursuant to either Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, or U.C.A. § 78-27-56.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXIST WITH REGARD TO DEFENDANTS ESTHER AND DARREN TAYLORS' INFLUENCE OVER DECEDENT IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO HIS DEATH AND AS TO HIS COMPETENCE FOR A PERIOD OF SIXTY DAYS PRIOR TO HIS DEATH.

Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure entitles a party to an award of summary judgment only if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of law. See; Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Olwell v. Clark, 658 P.2d 585 (1982), Lockhart Company v. Anderson, 646 P.2d 678 (1982), Geneva Pipe Company v. S&H Ins. Co., 714 P.2d 648 (1986). In Gadd v. Olsen, 685 P.2d 1041 (1984) this court stated:

"A motion for summary judgment can only be granted when 'there is no genuine issue as to any material fact,' and 'even assuming the facts as asserted by the party moved against to be true, he could not prevail.'"

"Since the party moved against is denied the opportunity of presenting his evidence and his contentions, it is and should be the policy of the courts to act on such motions with great caution, to assure that a party whose cause might have merit is not deprived of the right to access to the courts for enforcement of rights or the redress of wrongs."

It is well settled that a motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it clearly appears that there is no reasonable probability that the party moved against could prevail. Frisbee v. K&K Construction Company, 676 P.2d 387 (1984), Snyder v. Merkley, 693 P.2d 64 (1984), Gadd v. Olsen, supra.

In this case, the very language of the June 30, 1984 document showed that the decedent was concerned about the exercise of undue influence over him as his serious illness progressed (R. 104). Assuming all of the facts alleged in Wendell's Complaint to be true and considering the clearly stated concerns of the decedent as set out in the June 30, 1984 document, genuine issues of fact do exist and therefore the granting of Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment by the District court was inappropriate (R.

2-6, 104).

Although no finding was made by the District Court on this point, Defendants contend in their Memorandum Of Points And Authorities In Support Of Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment that Wendell lacks standing to challenge the validity of decedent's August 30, 1984 will. They base their contention upon the premise that Wendell is not an "interested person" as defined by U.C.A. § 75-1-201 (20). This statute states:

"'Interested person' includes heirs, devisees, children, spouses, creditors, beneficiaries, and any others having a property right in or claim against a trust estate or the estate of a decedent, ward or protected person, which may be affected by the proceeding. It also includes persons having priority for appointment as personal representative and other fiduciaries representing interested persons. The meaning as it relates to particular persons may vary from time to time and must be determined according to the particular purposes of and matters involved in, any proceeding."

In this case, Wendell clearly is an "interested person" as defined by this statute. Whether or not the June 30, 1984 document is a valid testamentary disposition, it evidences a debt owed by Wendell to the decedent. Wendell therefore has a property right in or claim against the estate in the determination of whether the debt to the estate is cancelled. Further, the statute specifically provides for a case by case analysis and determination as to who is an interested party in any proceeding.

Genuine issues of fact exist regarding the allegations of Plaintiff's Complaint and Plaintiff's standing to contest decedent's August 30, 1984 will. Therefore, the District Court's

Order granting Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment was erroneous.

POINT II

THE JUNE 30, 1984 WILL AND/OR CODICIL WAS PROPERLY EXECUTED IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH THE NECESSARY REQUISITES OF THE UTAH UNIFORM PROBATE CODE AND SHOULD THEREFORE BE TREATED AS VALID AND EFFECTIVE ACCORDING TO ITS TERMS.

The requirements for execution of a testamentary document in Utah are set forth in U.C.A. § 75-2-502 as follows:

"Except as provided for holographic wills, writings within section 75-2-573, and wills within section 75-2-506, every will shall be in writing signed by the testator or in the testator's name by some other person in the testator's presence and by his direction, and shall be signed by at least two persons each of whom witnessed either the signing or the testator's acknowledgment of the signature or of the will. The signing by the witnesses must be in the testator's presence and in the presence of each other."

This statutory provision was enacted in 1975 and was essentially an adoption of the Uniform Probate Code.

Compliance with the final sentence of the statute is contested by the Defendants in the instant case. Defendants in their Memorandum Of Points And Authorities In Support Of Motion For Summary Judgment note that the purpose of such a provision is to guard against fraud. (See; Defendants' Memorandum In Support Of Motion For Summary Judgment, pg. 9; 94 CJS Section Wills 189). Defendants then rely on the language used by the Utah Supreme Court in In Re Alexander's Estate, 139 P.2d 432 (Utah 1943). In that case, the court stated:

"The right to dispose of property by will is governed and controlled entirely by statute. Such statutes are mandatory, and, unless strictly complied with, the instrument, as a will, is void."

139 P.2d at 434.

Although the above quoted language provides for no exception, Plaintiff respectfully urges this court to consider several additional factors and similar judicial authority that would lead to a more equitable and just interpretation of the current statute governing execution of wills in Utah. In the Editorial Board Comment to U.C.A. § 75-2-502, the Editorial Board stated:

"The formalities for execution of a witnessed will have been reduced to a minimum. Execution under this section normally would be accomplished by signature of the testator and two witnesses; each of the persons signing as witnesses must 'witness' any of the following: the signing of the will by the testator, an acknowledgment by the testator that the signature is his, or an acknowledgment by the testator that the document is his will." (Emphasis added)

Utah Code Annotated § 75-1-102 specifically defines the purposes of the Utah Uniform Probate Code and rules for its construction. This statute states:

"(1) This code shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies.

(2) The underlying purposes and policies of this code are:

(a) To simplify and clarify the law concerning the affairs of decedents, missing persons, protected persons, minors, and incapacitated persons;

(b) To discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in distribution of his property;

(c) To promote a speedy and efficient system for administering the estate of the decedent in making distribution to his

successors;

(d) To facilitate use and enforcement of certain trusts; and

(e) To make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions." (Emphasis added).

The case of In Re Alexander's Estate, supra, is a 1943 case, decided long before the adoption of the Utah Uniform Probate Code or the initial drafting of the Utah Uniform Probate Code itself. The court did not, therefore, attempt to construe the present Utah Uniform Probate Code. In that case, the testatrix' will was declared invalid where the testatrix had not signed the will in the presence of the witnesses, as strictly required by statute, but she had definitely acknowledged to the witnesses that the instrument was her will. This decision was a very close 3-2 decision with Justices Wade and Moffat dissenting. In his dissenting opinion, Justice Wade stressed the importance of another Utah statute which provided that the statutes of this state be construed liberally and in a manner to promote justice. 139 P.2d at 434. Justice Wade, in reviewing the facts of the Alexander case, stated that although the testatrix had failed to comply strictly with the statutory requirements, she clearly thought she had made a valid will and desired disposition of her property according to her purported will. He then concluded:

"The legislative intent that our statutes shall be liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice". . . was undoubtedly enacted to prevent the harsh results of following to literally the exact wording of the statutes, and, to my mind, was made for just such a case as we have here."

139 P.2d at 434

As previously stated, U.C.A. § 75-1-102 specifically requires that the provisions of that Utah Uniform Probate Code be liberally construed and applied to promote the Code's underlying purposes. One of the specific underlying purposes and policies of the Utah Uniform Probate Code is "to discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in distribution of his property." A liberal construction of U.C.A. § 75-2-502 is warranted given the specific purposes of the Utah Uniform Probate Code and the facts of this case.

Other jurisdictions have reached similar conclusions with regard to substantial compliance and liberal construction as set out in Justice Wade's dissent. In In Re Rudd's Estate, 369 P.2d 526 (1962), the Montana Supreme Court, interpreting a similar wills statute stated:

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