1988

Wendell E. Taylor v. The Estate of Grant Taylor, Esther Taylor, Darren G. Taylor, and John Does 1 through 5 : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. This Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this appeal because Appellant failed to timely file a Notice of Appeal.

A. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was not filed within 30 days of entry of judgment.

B. Failure to give formal notice under Rule 58A(d) does not extend the time for filing Notice of Appeal.

C. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was not filed within 30 days of Appellant's receipt of actual notice of entry of judgment. Rule 58A(d)'s purpose was satisfied by Appellant's receipt of actual notice.

D. If Entry of Judgment is deemed to be the date on which Appellant received formal notice under Rule 58A(d), the extension of time granted Appellant in which he could file a Notice of Appeal exceeded the Court's discretion.

E. Appellant's Notice of Appeal filed on Sept. 3, 1986, 163 days after entry of judgment, was not timely filed. This Court consequently lacks jurisdiction to hear his appeal.

II. The purported June 30, 1984 will is invalid as a matter of law because it was not properly executed.

A. the will was not properly executed because it was not signed by the two witnesses in the testator's presence.

B. The fact that the Legislature added the last sentence of Section 75-2-502 when it adopted the Uniform Probate Code indicates a legislative intent that the provision be enforced.

C. The doctrine of substantial compliance, even if embraced by this Court, does not excise the last sentence of Section 75-2-502.

D. The language of the last sentence of Section 75-2-502 is mandatory in nature; the Legislature intended the sentence to be so interpreted.

E. The doctrine of substantial compliance, when properly understood, is not satisfied in this case in any event.

III. If the alleged June 30, 1984 will is invalid as a matter of law, Appellant lacks standing to challenge Grant Taylor's August 30, 1984 will because he is not an "interested person" under Section 75-3-401(1).

IV. The District Court's award of attorneys fees to defendants was proper.

A. The will attached to the plaintiff's complaint was signed by only one witness.

B. Plaintiff, almost a month and a half later, and a month after defendants pointed out to plaintiff pursuant to a Motion to Dismiss that a will signed by one witness is invalid, informed defendants that the will appended to the complaint was not a "true and accurate copy"; that plaintiff would produce a "true and accurate" copy signed by two witnesses.

C. As a direct consequence of plaintiff's "error," and of plaintiff permitting that "error" to fester for over a month and a half without correcting it, defendants incurred substantial attorneys fees that they otherwise would not have incurred.

D. The Court's award of attorneys fees under the circumstances was warranted under the inherent powers of the court or, alternatively, under Rule 11 if Rule 11 was in effect prior to the filing of the complaint.

E. Findings of Fact with respect to attorneys fees awarded as sanctions are not required, according to Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a).

F. Ample evidence was provided the Court to support its award of attorneys fees to defendants.

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. This Court Lacks Jurisdiction to Hear this Appeal because Appellant Failed to Timely File a Notice of Appeal.

The Third District Court, Judge Uno presiding, entered judgment in favor of defendants on March 24, 1986. Wendell's Notice of Appeal, filed September 3, 1986, was filed 163 days after entry of judgment and at least 84 days after he received actual notice of the Court's entry of judgment.

Wendell appeared before the District Court on July 29, 1986 (127 days after judgment was signed and filed) and, in an ex parte hearing, persuaded the Court to extend the time until September 3 in which he could file a Notice of Appeal.

Wendell's motion was premised on the fact that his counsel did not receive notice of the Court's Entry of Judgment until July 3, 1986. Wendell requested 30 days following July 3 in which to file a Notice of Appeal, plus another 30 days because his attorney was leaving town on vacation. Wendell filed his Notice of Appeal on September 3, 1986.

A. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was Not Filed within 30 Days of Entry of Judgment, as Required by Appellate Procedure Rule 4(a).

A losing party may appeal an adverse judgment in a civil action as a matter of right. Utah R. App. P. 3(a). An appeal is initiated by filing with the District Court a "Notice of Appeal," which must be filed "within 30 days after the date of the entry of judgment . . . appealed from." Utah R. App. P. 4(a). "Entry of Judgment" occurs when the Judgment is signed by the Judge and filed by the clerk of the court. Utah R. Civ. P. 58A(c).

The District Court entered summary judgment in favor of defendants, dismissing Wendell's complaint with prejudice, on March 24, 1986. The 30 day period for filing a notice of appeal expired on April 23. Wendell didn't request an extension of the time in which to file a Notice of an Appeal until July 29. The Notice of Appeal itself was not filed until September 3.

Wendell's Notice of Appeal was not filed within 30 days after Entry of Judgment. Consequently, it was not filed in time, pursuant to Appellate Procedure Rule 4(a).

B. Even if "Entry of Judgment" is Deemed not to Occur until the Losing Party Receives Notice of the Entry of Judgment, Appellant still did not File a Notice of Appeal within 30 days Following Actual Notice of Entry of Judgment.

Appellant contends that the 30 day period referred to Appellate Procedure Rule 4(a) does not begin to run until the losing party receives notice of the entry of judgment under Civil Procedure Rule 58A(d). Appellant's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Jurisdiction and Motion to Strike, p. 7.

The purpose of the new Rule 58A(d)¹ is to ensure that non-prevailing parties are informed of entry of judgment against them, so that they may act on such knowledge and decide whether to file a Notice of Appeal within the time prescribed by the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Advisory Committee Note to Rule 58A(d), Utah Bar Letter, January, 1986, p. 5.

In this instance, Wendell was informed and received notice of the judgment against him by no later than June 11, 1986. On June 10, defendants served a Writ of Garnishment on Continental Bank; return of service on which was filed with the Court.

¹ Rule 58A(d) was promulgated by the Supreme Court effective December 1, 1985, according to the Utah Bar Letter, January, 1986, p. 5. The new rule was included in the paperback, blue-cover Utah Court Rules Annotated (1986 ed.), published by the Michie Company. However, the 1986 Supplement to Volume 9B of Utah Code Ann., also published by Michie, contained no reference to the new rule.

Continental Bank, pursuant to its normal operating procedure, notified Wendell of the garnishment by mail and by phone. Wendell, when he talked to officer Jeanne Campbell of Continental Bank on the 10th or 11th asked the identity of the parties who had served the Writ. R. 311, p. 10. Continental Bank also mailed to Wendell a copy of the Writ, which identified the parties to the action, the civil number of the action, etc. Id. p. 8 and Exhibit 2 thereto. Furthermore, the information passed to Wendell by Continental Bank came to him after the Court had granted defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment in open court, with his counsel present and presenting argument. See Minute Entry issued by the Court, R. 212.

Although Wendell had not received formal notice pursuant to Rule 58A(d), he was notified and knew of the judgment against him by no later than June 11, 1986. Thirty days then passed and he filed no notice of appeal. Forty-five days passed. Finally, on July 29, at least 48 days after Wendell had received actual notice of the judgment against him, he decided to swap attorneys and request more time in which to file a notice of appeal.

Wendell thus knew by no later than June 11 that his account had been garnished and that judgment had been entered against him. Service by defendants of the Writ of Garnishment on

Continental Bank operated to give Wendell actual notice of the judgment entered against him. Actual notice satisfies the purpose of Civil Procedure Rule 58A(d) and, thus, Wendell's failure to file an appeal within 30 days of his actual knowledge of the judgment warrants dismissal of his appeal under Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 4. Furthermore, one having actual notice is not prejudiced by a failure to receive statutory notice, and may not complain of the failure to receive statutory notice. First National Bank v. Oklahoma Savings and Loan Board, 569 P.2d 993, 987 (Okla. 1977).

This court has not interpreted delayed notice under Rule 58A(d) to postpone the running of prescribed time period in which notice of an appeal must be filed under Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 4(a) and (e).² Even if that interpretation is adopted, however, Wendell received notice - actual notice - of the judgment entered against him by no later

² The recent amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure, which became effective Jan. 1, 1987, amended Rule 58A(d), which had been in effect only just over a year, by adding, "However, the time for filing a notice of appeal is not affected by the notice requirement of this provision." Emphasis added.

than June 11, 1986. Wendell then permitted in excess of 30 days to lapse without filing a Notice of Appeal and without taking any other action to protect his right of appeal.

C. Even if the Date of "Entry of Judgment" is Deemed to be July 1, 1986, the Extension by the Court on July 29 of the Time in Which to File a Notice of Appeal Exceeded the Court's Discretion Under Appellate Procedure Rule 4(e).

Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(e) provides that the initial 30 day period in which a Notice of Appeal may be filed may be extended by court order an additional 30 days, but only upon a showing of "excusable neglect" or "good cause." Wendell requested such an extension on July 29. Wendell's request for an extension, however, was predicated on (1) his selection of new counsel and (2) that his counsel would be out of town for several days.

The term "good cause" in Appellate Procedure Rule 4(e) refers to "an extraordinary circumstance that prevented movant from filing a timely notice of appeal and not to inadvertence or oversight on the part of counsel or to the failure of the client to authorize an appeal." Utah R. App. P. 4(e), Advisory

Committee Note (emphases added). The desire of Wendell's counsel to leave town on vacation does not constitute "good cause" or "excusable neglect" under Appellate Procedure Rule 4(e). See e.g., Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d 952, 959 (Utah 1984) (citing with approval a Maryland case holding that a senior partner's death and resultant delay in filing notice of appeal did not establish excusable neglect). Plaintiff's choice to hire new counsel toward the end of the 30-day period (assuming the 30 days referred to in Appellate Procedure Rule 4(a) began to run on July 1) likewise does not constitute "excusable neglect" or "good cause." See e.g., Laugesen v. Witkin Homes, Inc., 479 P.2d 289 (Colo. App. 1970).

A Notice of Appeal, as the 7th Circuit observed, is "an extremely simple instrument to prepare and file and if it is subsequently ascertained that an appeal should not be pursued it can be dismissed." Files v. City of Rockford, 440 F.2d 811, 816 (7th Cir. 1971) (interpreting Fed. R. App. P. 4 and citing 9 Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 204.13[3], at 978 (2d ed. 1970)). Wendell's attorney instead of filing a Motion for Extension of Time, could have filed a Notice of Appeal or he could have easily filed a Notice of Appeal before he left town. There was no "good cause" for Wendell having an extra 30 days.

The District Court exceeded its authority under Appellate Procedure Rule 4(e) in granting Wendell an extension on July 29 based on the grounds presented by Wendell. Where an extension is granted by a District Court in the absence of "excusable neglect" or "good cause," the filing of a Notice of Appeal within the extension period is not timely filed under Appellate Procedure Rule 4(e). Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., supra.

D. Failure to Timely File Notice of Appeal is Jurisdictional, and Requires Dismissal of the Appeal.

Timely Notice of an Appeal is jurisdictional. Nelson v. Stoker, 669 P.2d 390 (Utah 1983); Watson v. Anderson, 29 Utah 2d 36, 504 P.2d 1003 (1972). Since failure to timely file a Notice of Appeal is jurisdictional, the Supreme Court lacks jurisdiction to hear an appeal in which Notice of Appeal is not timely filed. Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982). An appeal, in such circumstances, must be dismissed. Id.; Burgers v. Maiben, 652 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1982); Watson v. Anderson, supra.

The Supreme Court may not enlarge the time for filing a Notice of Appeal. Utah R. App. P. 22(b); Utah R. App. P. 2,

Advisory Committee Note ("Rule 22(b) prohibits the Supreme Court from extending or suspending the time for appeal or review and the district court is otherwise prohibited except as provided by Rule 4(e)"). Emphasis added.

Defendants did not give formal notice to Wendell of the entry of judgment against him until July 1. Wendell, accordingly, wants this Court to declare that the 30 day period referred to in Appellate Procedure Rule 4(a) did not begin to run until July 1, 1986, that his request for an extension of time was warranted and timely made on July 29, 1986, and that his Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 3, 1986.

No Utah decision has interpreted the in-effect for one year (and published in only some of the official codes) Rule 58A(d) to extend the time period in which a losing party may initiate an appeal. The recent amendment to Rule 58A(d) suggests that it does not.

Under any interpretation given to Rule 58A(d), as it affects the running of the 30 day period under Appellate Rule 4(a), Wendell's Notice of Appeal was not timely filed in this case. If Entry of Judgment is deemed to be the date the Judgment was signed and filed, see Utah R. Civ. P. 58A(c), then the Judgment was entered on March 24 and neither Wendell's request for an extension on July 29 nor his Notice of Appeal on

September 3 was timely made. If Entry of Judgment is deemed to be the date on which Wendell received actual notice of the Judgment, then the Judgment would be deemed entered on either June 11 or 12. Again, neither Wendell's request for an extension on July 29 nor his Notice of Appeal on September 3 was timely made. If Entry of Judgment is deemed to be the date on which formal notice was mailed to Wendell pursuant to Rule 58A(d), then the Judgment would be deemed entered on July 1. Under that interpretation, Wendell's request for an extension, though made within 30 days, was made without "good cause," see Utah R. App. P. 4(e), and the Notice of Appeal on September 3 still was not timely filed.

Under any of the above interpretations, Appellant failed to file his Notice of Appeal within the time prescribed by the Rules. This Court consequently lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Appeal, the Appeal should be dismissed, and the summary judgment and award of attorneys fees by the district court should be affirmed.

II. The Purported June 30, 1984 Will is Invalid as a Matter of Law because it was not Properly Executed.

A. The Alleged June 30, 1984 Will was not Executed in Compliance with Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-502.

Wendell's Complaint is founded upon an alleged will, allegedly executed by Grant R. Taylor on June 30, 1984. The alleged will is purported to be Grant's "Final Will and Testament," and is characterized in Wendell's complaint as a "Will and/or Codicile."

Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-502 (1978), which governs execution of wills, provides that:

Except as provided for holographic wills, writings within section 75-2-513, and wills within section 75-2-506, every will shall be in writing signed by the testator or in the testator's name by some other person in the testator's presence and by his direction, and shall be signed by at least two persons each of whom witnessed either the signing or the testator's acknowledgment of the signature or of the will. The signing by the witnesses must be in the testator's presence and in the presence of each other. [Emphases added.]

Neither of the versions of the alleged June 30, 1984 will produced by Wendell is a holographic will, since each is typewritten. Nor does either version fall within the ambit of Section 75-2-513 (separate writing identifying bequest of tangible property) or Section 75-2-506 (choice of law as to execution).

Section 75-2-502 thus requires that a will, to be valid, must be witnessed and signed by at least two persons. Furthermore, each of the persons who witnessed the testator's

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